IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER.

Appellant, Case No.:

Electronically Filed 7460 Jun 06 2018 09:54 a.m.

Elizabeth A. Brown

Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial

District Court, the Honorable

Jim Crockett Presiding Respondent.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Marquis Aurbach Coffing Micah S. Echols, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 8437 10001 Park Run Drive Las Vegas, Nevada 89145

Telephone: (702) 382-0711 Facsimile: (702) 382-5816

mechols@maclaw.com

Steven B. Wolfson **District Attorney** Laura C. Rehfeldt

Deputy District Attorney

Nevada Bar No. 5101

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Coroner appeals from the District Court's order granting the petition for writ of mandamus filed by Respondent, Las Vegas Review-Journal ("LVRJ"). 2 Joint Appendix ("JA") 428–442. The District Court's order granting LVRJ's petition for writ of mandamus is a final, appealable order according to NRAP 3A(b)(1), which allows for an appeal from a final order or judgment. *See Ashokan v. State, Dep't of Ins.*, 109 Nev. 662, 665–666, 856 P.2d 244, 246 (1993). The Coroner's notice of appeal was timely filed on November 28, 2017 from the District Court's order, which was noticed on November 9, 2017. 2 JA 428–444. Therefore, this Court has appellate jurisdiction over this appeal.

II. ROUTING STATEMENT

This appeal asks the Court to resolve several issues of first impression that are also of statewide public importance, including: (1) the confidentiality of juvenile autopsy reports in the context of NRS Chapter 239, the Nevada Public Records Act ("NPRA"); (2) a requester's inability to claim waiver of a governmental entity's clarified response to the requester's clarified public records request; and (3) a governmental entity's ability to charge a fee for redacting confidential portions of otherwise public records. Based upon NRAP 17(a)(10) and (11), the Supreme Court should retain this appeal since it involves issues of first impression that are also of statewide public importance.

III. ISSUES ON APPEAL

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY CONCLUDING THAT JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS IN THE CORONER'S CUSTODY OR CONTROL ARE NOT CONFIDENTIAL FOR PURPOSES OF THE NPRA WHEN:
 - 1. NRS 432B.407(6) MANDATES THE CONFIDENTIALITY OF INFORMATION ACQUIRED BY A CHILD DEATH REVIEW TEAM;
 - 2. THE REQUESTED JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS CONTAIN CONFIDENTIAL PERSONAL HEALTH INFORMATION;
 - 3. THE DISTRICT COURT FAILED TO CONSIDER THE LEGAL UNDERPINNINGS OF ATTORNEY GENERAL OPINION 82-12; AND
 - 4. ASSEMBLY BILL 57 (2017), WHICH CLARIFIED NRS 259.045, EITHER APPLIES TO THIS LITIGATION OR SHOULD APPLY RETROACTIVELY.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DETERMINING THAT THE CORONER WAIVED A PORTION OF ITS LEGAL POSITION TO WITHHOLD CONFIDENTIAL JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS BECAUSE:
 - 1. THE CORONER CLARIFIED ITS RESPONSE TO LVRJ'S CLARIFIED REQUEST FOR PUBLIC RECORDS; AND
 - 2. WAIVER IS NOT A REMEDY EXPRESSLY STATED IN THE NPRA.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY, ALTERNATIVELY, REFUSING TO ALLOW THE CORONER TO CHARGE A FEE TO LVRJ FOR REDACTING CONFIDENTIAL PORTIONS OF THE JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This is a case in which LVRJ has extracted an order from the District Court that requires the Coroner to "produce autopsy reports of autopsies conducted of anyone under the age of 18 conducted from 2012 through April 13, 2017 to the LVRJ in unredacted form." 2 JA 441, ¶ 59. To reach this order, the District Court ignored the plain language of NRS 432B.407(6)¹ and the confidential nature of the juvenile autopsy reports. The District Court also erroneously concluded that the Coroner waived portions of its clarified response after LVRJ clarified its public records request, even though the NPRA does not provide for such a waiver. 2 JA 436–437. Despite the Coroner's best efforts to cooperate with LVRJ through written responses, spread sheets of information, meetings, and sample redacted autopsy reports (1 JA 13–143), LVRJ filed a petition for writ of mandamus in the District Court to force the Coroner to turn over this confidential information. 1 JA 1–11.

In this appeal, the Coroner asks the Court to determine that the requested juvenile autopsy reports are, indeed, confidential, such that the District Court cannot compel the Coroner to produce any of these records. Alternatively, the

¹ NRS 432B.407(6): "Except as otherwise provided in this section, information acquired by, and the records of, a multidisciplinary team to review the death of a child are confidential, must not be disclosed, and are not subject to subpoena, discovery or introduction into evidence in any civil or criminal proceeding."

Coroner asks this Court to conclude that the Coroner can redact confidential information from the requested juvenile autopsy reports, while charging a reasonable rate to LVRJ for the time spent redacting. The Coroner's requested relief is based upon the following arguments:

A. First, the District Court erred by concluding that juvenile autopsy reports in the Coroner's custody or control are not confidential for purposes of the NPRA. The plain language of NRS 432B.407(6) mandates the confidentiality of information acquired by a child death review ("CDR") team. Instead of abiding by the statutory language, the District Court ruled that the confidential information somehow expires after a CDR team has completed its investigation. 2 JA 438–439, ¶ 42. But, no such language is found within NRS 432B.407(6), and the District Court was not at liberty to ignore the strict language of this statute. See S. Nev. Homebuilders Ass'n v. Clark Cnty., 121 Nev. 446, 451, 117 P.3d 171, 174 (2005) ("[I]t is not the business of this court to fill in alleged legislative omissions based on conjecture as to what the legislature would or should have done."). Therefore, the juvenile autopsy reports that were reviewed by a CDR team should be deemed confidential and not subject to disclosure.²

_

² Based upon LVRJ's parameters dating back to January 2012, all but 49 child deaths were reviewed by the CDR team. 1 JA 229–230, ¶¶ 10–11.

Additionally, the requested juvenile autopsy reports contain confidential personal health information. This Court has previously articulated that "[b]oth the physicians and the courts are obligated to respect this privilege, unless there are overriding public policy considerations." Hetter v. Dist. Ct., 110 Nev. 513, 516, 874 P.2d 762, 763 (1994). Certainly, LVRJ's desire to obtain private information does not override individual privacy rights. See Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff, 126 Nev. 211, 218, 234 P.3d 922, 927 (2010) ("[A]n individual's privacy is also an important interest, especially because private and personal information may be recorded in government files."). The Coroner also asserted that both the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act ("HIPAA"), 29 U.S.C. § 1181 et seq., and NRS 629.021 (defining "health care records") prohibit the disclosure of personal health information from the requested autopsy reports. 1 JA 208–210. On this issue, the District Court ruled that the Coroner is not a "covered entity" under HIPAA. 2 JA 439, ¶ 48. But, the District Court did not substantively address NRS 629.021 or the fact that the Coroner was performing his official duties. *Id*. On the additional basis of personal health information, the Court should determine that none of the juvenile autopsy records must be disclosed.

Further, the District Court failed to consider the legal underpinnings of Attorney General Opinion ("AGO") 82-12, which is titled "Autopsy Reports; Public Records—Strong public policy of confidentiality of medical information

requires that autopsy reports not be available for public inspection." 1 JA 36–39. From the outset of LVRJ's public records request, the Coroner raised the legal underpinnings of AGO 82-12. *Id.* However, the District Court refused to look at these legal underpinnings and, instead, concluded that AGOs are not legal precedent. 2 JA 437, ¶¶ 34–36. As such, the District Court erred by refusing to acknowledge or consider the merits of one the Coroner's reasons for withholding the confidential juvenile autopsy reports.

Assembly Bill ("AB") 57, 79th Leg. Session (Nev. 2017), which clarified NRS 259.045, either applies to this litigation or should apply retroactively. In AB 57, the Legislature limited the class of individuals to whom the Coroner can release an autopsy report. 1 JA 236–237. This amendment became effective on July 1, 2017. *Id.* at 237. However, LVRJ did not file its District Court petition for writ of mandamus until July 17, 2017. 1 JA 1–11. Thus, the clarifications of AB 57 should have applied to this litigation based upon the effective date. 2 JA 437–438, ¶¶ 44–46. Even if the effective date standing alone does not warrant the application of AB 57 to this litigation, the Legislature's clarifications regarding the scope of the Coroner's duties, nevertheless, apply retroactively. *See In re Estate of Thomas*, 116 Nev. 492, 495, 998 P.2d 560, 562 (2000) (clarifications to a statute apply retroactively). Therefore, the Court should declare that the requested juvenile autopsy reports are confidential.

- В. Second, the District Court erred by determining that the Coroner waived a portion of its legal position to withhold confidential juvenile autopsy reports. The Coroner explained to the District Court that once LVRJ clarified its public records request, the Coroner, likewise, clarified its response. 1 JA 218–221. The District Court, nevertheless, read an additional remedy into the NPRA regarding waiver, even though there is no supporting statutory text. 2 JA 436–437, ¶¶ 32–33. As a matter of law, LVRJ's remedy for its refusal to accept the Coroner's position was to petition the District Court for relief, as outlined in NRS 239.011. Notably, nothing within NRS 239.0107 or NRS 239.011 suggests that waiver is a remedy. As such, the District Court was without authority to read an additional remedy of waiver into the NPRA. See Builders Ass'n of Northern Nevada v. City of Reno, 105 Nev. 368, 370, 776 P.2d 1234, 1235 (1989) ("If a statute expressly provides a remedy, courts should be cautious in reading other remedies into the statute."). Therefore, the Court should reject the District Court's conclusion on waiver, particularly because the District Court actually addressed the merits of the Coroner's arguments that were allegedly waived. 2 JA 428–442.
- C. Third, the District Court erred by, alternatively, refusing to allow the Coroner to charge a fee to LVRJ for redacting confidential portions of the juvenile autopsy reports. The District Court's order currently requires the Coroner to produce "unredacted" juvenile autopsy reports. 2 JA 441, ¶ 59. However, the

District Court alternatively ruled that if the Coroner is permitted to redact confidential information from the autopsy reports, the Coroner would not be able to charge a fee for its time spent redacting. 2 JA 440–441. Despite the authorizing provisions in NRS 239.055 regarding the "extraordinary use of personnel," the District Court's order requires the Coroner to sift through documents and potentially redact confidential information, all for LVRJ's benefit, without being able to charge a fee. 2 JA 440-441. LVRJ suggests that a fee authorized by NRS 239.055 only relates to "a copy of a public record," but such a reading would impermissibly render superfluous the remaining provisions of this statute. See D.R. Horton, Inc. v. Dist. Ct., 123 Nev. 468, 477, 168 P.3d 731, 738 (2007) ("[N]o part of a statute [may] be rendered meaningless and its language should not be read to produce absurd or unreasonable results."). Therefore, if the Court rules that the Coroner is permitted to redact confidential information from the juvenile autopsy reports, the Court should also rule that the Coroner is entitled to charge a reasonable fee for time spent redacting confidential information.

In summary, this Court should vacate the District Court's order requiring the Coroner to produce unredacted child autopsy reports since: (1) these reports are confidential according to NRS 432B.407(6); (2) these reports contain confidential personal health information; (3) these reports cannot be legally disclosed according to the legal underpinnings of AGO 82-12; and (4) AB 57 amended NRS 259.045 to

clarify that autopsy reports are confidential and can only be disclosed to a certain class of individuals. Additionally, this Court should determine that the Coroner did not waive any portion of its legal position to withhold confidential juvenile autopsy reports because the Coroner clarified its response to LVRJ's clarified request for public records. And, waiver is not a remedy expressly stated in the NPRA.

Alternatively, if the Court requires the Coroner to produce redacted juvenile autopsy reports, the Court should allow the Coroner to charge a reasonable fee to LVRJ for time spent redacting based upon NRS 239.055. Upon these grounds, the Coroner urges this Court for relief.

V. STANDARDS OF REVIEW

This Court reviews a district court's decision to grant or deny a petition for a writ of mandamus under an abuse of discretion standard. *See City of Reno v. Reno Gazette-Journal*, 119 Nev. 55, 58, 63 P.3d 1147, 1148 (2003). Questions of statutory construction, however, including the meaning and scope of a statute, are questions of law, which this Court reviews de novo. *Id.* This Court also reviews the District Court's interpretation of case law de novo. *See LVMPD v. Blackjack Bonding*, 343 P.3d 608, 612 (Nev. 2015).

When the Legislature has addressed a matter with "imperfect clarity," it becomes the responsibility of this Court to discern the law. *See Baron v. Dist. Ct.*,

95 Nev. 646, 648, 600 P.2d 1192, 1193–1194 (1979). Given an ambiguous statute, this Court must interpret the statute "in light of the policy and the spirit of the law, and the interpretation should avoid absurd results." *Hunt v. Warden*, 111 Nev. 1284, 1285, 903 P.2d 826, 827 (1995).

VI. BACKGROUND ON THE NPRA

The NPRA provides that all public books and public records of governmental entities must remain open to the public, unless "otherwise declared by law to be confidential." NRS 239.010(1). The Legislature has declared that the purpose of the NPRA is to further the democratic ideal of an accountable government by ensuring that public records are broadly accessible. NRS 239.001(1). Thus, the provisions of the NPRA are designed to promote government transparency and accountability. Any limitations or restrictions on the public's right of access must be narrowly construed. NRS 239.001(3).

If a governmental entity withholds records, it bears the burden of proving, by a preponderance of the evidence, that the records are confidential. NRS 239.0113. *See Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons*, 127 Nev. 873, 877–878, 266 P.3d 623, 626 (2011). The balancing-of-competing-interests test is employed "when the requested record is not explicitly made confidential by a statute" and the governmental entity nonetheless resists disclosure of the information. *Id.*, 127 Nev. at 878–879, 266 P.3d at 627. This test weighs "the fundamental right of

a citizen to have access to the public records" against "the incidental right of the agency to be free from unreasonable interference." *DR Partners v. Bd. of Cnty. Comm'rs*, 116 Nev. 616, 621, 6 P.3d 465, 468 (2000). "[A]n individual's privacy is also an important interest, especially because private and personal information may be recorded in government files." *Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff*, 126 Nev. 211, 218, 234 P.3d 922, 927 (2010).

VII. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

A. BACKGROUND ON THE DUTIES AND PURPOSE OF THE CLARK COUNTY CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER (NRS CHAPTER 259 AND CLARK COUNTY CODE CHAPTER 2.12).

The purpose of the Coroner is to investigate deaths within Clark County that are violent, suspicious, unexpected, or unnatural to identify and report on the cause and manner of death. This may include those reported as unattended by a physician, suicide, poisoning or overdose, occasioned by criminal means, resulting or related to an accident. *See* Clark County Code ("CCC") § 2.12.060; 1 JA 225–234. When the Coroner is notified of a death, a Coroner investigator responds to the scene and conducts a medico-legal investigation. Information is gathered from the scene and persons (such as witnesses, law enforcement officers, and family members), the decedent is identified, the next of kin is notified, and property found on or about the decedent is secured. The investigation often entails obtaining medical records or health information of the decedent. Most often, the body is

transported to the Coroner's Office for a physical examination known as an autopsy, which is conducted by a medical examiner who is a forensic pathologist. *See* CCC §§ 2.12.060, 2.12.280; 1 JA 226–227.

In conducting the autopsy, the medical examiners perform an external and internal exam of the body of the decedent. They review investigative findings, medical records, and health history prior to commencing the exam. The organs are examined, and histology samples along with blood are submitted to a laboratory for analysis. It is the responsibility of the medical examiners to determine the cause and manner of death. See CCC §§ 2.12.040, 2.12.060; 1 JA 226-227. The manner of death is the method by which someone died. The five manners of death are homicide, suicide, natural, accident, and undetermined. The cause of death is the circumstance that triggers a death, such as a gunshot wound, heart attack, or drug overdose. The medical examiner documents findings, including the cause and manner of death in an autopsy report. See CCC §§ 2.12.060, 2.12.040, 2.12.250; After completion of the autopsy, the body is released to a 1 JA 226–227. mortuary, and the person with rights to the body takes over the handling of the body. See CCC §§ 2.12.270, 2.12.280; NRS 451.024. The death of the decedent, including the cause and manner, is documented in a death certificate, which is generated maintained the Department of Vital Statistics. and by See CCC § 2.12.250, ¶ 2(e).

1. Content of Autopsy Reports.

Autopsy reports consist of the findings from the autopsy, including those related to the cause and manner of death of the decedent. Additionally, the name, age, sex, and date of death are identified. 1 JA 226-227. The external examination is described in the autopsy report and includes an analysis as to the medical/health status or condition of the exterior parts of the body. These findings could range from observations about the genitalia to recent medical treatment to a hidden tattoo. *Id*. The findings related to the internal examination are also included in the autopsy report. Such findings may include radiographic findings, detailed descriptions of medical evaluations as to the condition of organs and functions, which may include the neck (i.e., thyroid, cricoids, prevertebral tissue, and muscles); cardiovascular system (i.e., aorta, coronary arteries, heart); respiratory system (i.e., trachea, major bronchi, pulmonary vessels, lungs); hepatobiliary system (i.e., liver); hemolymphatic system (i.e., spleen); gastrointestinal system (i.e., esophagus, stomach, appendix, intestines); genitourinary system (i.e., renal and genitalia); endocrine system (i.e., thyroid and adrenal glands); and central nervous system (i.e., brain). Id. The fluids, tissue, and organ samples retained and submitted for testing are included in the autopsy report, along with the types of tests ordered. The test results and any microscopic examinations are also included. *Id*.

References to specific medical records, specific medical or health information, and personal characteristics about the decedent may also be included in an autopsy report. Such references could include sexual orientation of the decedent and types of diseases, such as venereal, HIV, liver, cancer, mental illness, or drug/alcohol addiction or overdoses. This information may not be publicly known, and its dissemination may result in unwanted social stigmas or embarrassment to a family. 1 JA 226–227.

2. The Coroner's Policy With Respect to the Release of Autopsy Reports.

The Coroner's policy with respect to the release of autopsy reports is to release them, upon request, to the legal next of kin, an administrator or executor of an estate, law enforcement officers in performing their official duties, and pursuant to a subpoena. *Cf.* NRS 259.045; AB 57 (1 JA 236–237). The Coroner's policy not to release autopsy reports to the general public is based on the underlying legal analysis in AGO 82-12. 1 JA 227. This AGO concludes that an autopsy report is a public record but not for public dissemination based on public policy and the law treating the subject matter in an autopsy report as confidential. 1 JA 36–39. However, the Coroner does make public the information related to the fulfillment of its statutory duties, such as the identification of a decedent, location and date of death, cause and manner of death, which is consistent with AGO 82-12. 1 JA 227.

B. LVRJ'S REQUEST FOR JUVENILE AUTOPSY REPORTS.

On April 13, 2017, Arthur Kane ("Kane") and Brian Joseph ("Joseph"), investigative reporters for LVRJ, emailed a public records request to the Coroner for:

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