IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

CLARK COUNTY OFFICE OF THE CORONER/MEDICAL EXAMINER,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Sep 06 2018 10:14 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

VS.

SUPREME COURT CASE NO: 74604

LAS VEGAS REVIEW-JOURNAL,

74004

Respondent.

DISTRICT COURT CASE NO.: A-17-758501-W

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Margaret A. McLetchie, Nevada Bar No. 10931 Alina M. Shell, Nevada Bar No. 11711 MCLETCHIE SHELL LLC 701 East Bridger Ave., Suite 520 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101 Telephone: (702) 728-5300

Fax: (702) 425-8220

Email: maggie@nvlitugation.com

Counsel for Respondent, Las Vegas Review-Journal

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE

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

Even if this were not an NPRA case, NRS 432B.407 must be read consistently with its plain terms. Under those terms, *a CDR's records*—the records it creates and the information it acquires—are confidential. This is an NPRA case. In evaluating whether NRS 432B.407 creates a wholesale carve-out to access, this Court must read the statute (any exception to access) narrowly. As the Coroner recognizes (OB, pp. 22-23), to establish that a record is confidential by law, there must be an express, unequivocal expression of that intent. No such expression is in NRS 432B.407.

That NRS 432B.407 should not be read as a carve-out to the NPRA for child death autopsies is especially clear because NRS 432B.407 was enacted after the NPRA. A party contending that legislative action changed settled law has the burden of showing that the legislature intended such a change. *See Green v. Bock Laundry Mach. Co.*, 490 U.S. 504, 521 (1989); *Anderson v. Pacific Coast S.S. Co.*, 225 U.S.

187, 199 (1912); *cf.*, *State*, *Div. of Ins. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 116 Nev. 290, 295, 995 P.2d 482, 486 (2000) ("[W]hen the legislature enacts a statute, this court presumes that it does so with full knowledge of existing statutes relating to the same subject") (quotation omitted). The Coroner bears the burden of demonstrating the Legislature, in enacting § 432B.407, intended the confidentiality of "information obtained" provision in subsection (6) to supersede the presumption of access in the NPRA. It cannot do so.

Moreover, the Coroner's interpretation is not consistent with the mandate to "interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules or statutes." *State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 116 Nev. at 295, 995 P.2d at 486 (citations omitted); *see also City Council of City of Reno v. Reno Newspapers, Inc.*, 105 Nev. 886, 892, 784 P.2d 974, 978 (1989). Interpreting NRS 432B.407 as mandating that public records such as autopsy reports must permanently confidential does not harmonize with the purpose or plain language of the NPRA. All public records are presumptively open to public review and inspection; any "exemption, exception or balancing of interests which limits or restricts access to public books and records by members of the public must be construed narrowly." NRS 239.001(3).

Even assuming a record is confidential while the CDR team is evaluating it, as the district court properly recognized (2 JA438-39, ¶ 42), such a claim is not permanent. *Cf. State ex rel. Cincinnati Enquirer v. Pike County Coroner's Office*,

153 Ohio St. 3d 63, 78 (2017) ("certain information contained in autopsy reports falls under one of the narrow exceptions to public disclosure for a temporary period"). Even if the reports may also have been obtained and used by CDRs, the confidentiality provision in NRS 432B.407(6) should not apply to the records in other iterations—especially once the CDR team is done with its work.

Further, nothing in NRS 432B.407's plain text indicates its confidentiality provision is intended to apply to autopsy records in perpetuity. The purpose of organizing CDRs is to review and assess selected cases of deaths of children to analyze those cases, "[m]ake recommendations for improvements to laws, policies, and practice; [s]upport the safety of children; and [p]revent future deaths of children." NRS 432B.403(1)-(6). A CDR can access law enforcement investigative information, autopsy records, medical or mental health records pertaining to the child, and records pertaining to social and rehabilitative services provided to the child or the child's family. NRS 432B.407(1)(a)-(d). The CDRs may then use the information they obtain to prepare a report and recommendations. NRS 432B.408(1). If the Legislature had intended for records obtained by CDRs to remain permanently confidential, it would have explicitly stated so in NRS 432B.407(6).

In *PERS*, this Court explicitly rejected the very type of argument the Coroner is making in this case to resist disclosure. There, the Reno Gazette-Journal sent a request to the Public Employees' Retirement System of Nevada ("PERS") "seeking

the following pension information: the names of all individuals who are collecting pensions, the names of their government employers, their salaries, their hire and retirement dates, and the amounts of their pension payments." *PERS*, 129 Nev. at 824, 313 P.3d at 222. "The RGJ's request originated as part of an investigation concerning government expenditures and the public cost of retired government employee pensions." *Id*.

To avoid production under the NPRA, PERS argued that "all information contained in an individual's file" was protected by confidentiality pursuant to a statute which declared employee and retired employee files confidential. 129 Nev. at 837, 313 P.3d at 224. This Court held the applicable statute's "scope of confidentiality does not extend to all information by virtue of it being contained in individuals' files." 129 Nev. at 838, 313 P.3d at 224. Therefore, "[w]here information is contained in a medium separate from individuals' files, including administrative reports generated from data contained in individuals' files, information in such reports or other media is not confidential merely because the same information is also contained in individuals' files." *Id.* (footnote omitted).

Likewise, here, autopsy reports do not become confidential forever and in all forms because they are also acquired and reviewed by a CDR team. They are maintained separately from CDR files, and the mere fact that a CDR team reviewed

an autopsy does not render it confidential.¹⁶

2. AB57 Does Not Support the Coroner's Position.

a) AB 57 Does Not Render the Records Confidential.

AB57 modified NRS 259.054 to: (1) require a coroner to make reasonable effort to locate the next-of-kin responsible for authorizing burial or cremation, and (2) to provide that a coroner may provide certain other next of kin notification regarding of the fact of death and provide a copy of a report at the same time. (1 JA236-237.) Nowhere in the statute does it state that autopsy reports held by a coroner are confidential.

Although the Coroner belabors statutory construction (OB, pp. 34-35), it ignores that the NPRA starts from the presumption that all governmental records are open to the public unless otherwise declared to be confidential. NRS 239.010(1). Here, nothing in NRS 259.045 "expressly and unequivocally" prohibits disclosure of autopsy reports. Thus, it does not provide a basis for the Coroner's Office to withhold the requested reports. *See Reno Newspapers v. Sheriff (Haley)*, 126 Nev.

_

¹⁶ The Coroner's reliance on a "related" federal statute to justify withholding is even more contorted. It asserts that disclosure would jeopardize federal grant eligibility requirements under the Child Abuse and Prevention Treatment Act of 1996 ("CAPTA"), 42 U.S.C. § 5106a. (OB, p. 24.) Nothing in CAPTA makes autopsy records confidential. Moreover, 42 U.S.C. § 5106a(c)(4)(B)(i)(I) specifically provides that members of child death panels may make public information related to the investigation of a child death when "authorized by State statute." The NPRA not only authorizes disclosure of public records such as autopsy reports, it *requires* disclosure.

211, 214–15, 234 P.3d 922, 924–25 (2010).

Rather than pointing to any explicit declaration of confidentiality, the Coroner tries to flip the NPRA on its head and argues that autopsy reports are confidential because the Legislature "could have stated that Autopsy Reports were open to the public and not confidential, but did not do that." (OB, pp. 35-36.) The Coroner also relies on the idea that, where a statute "specifically includes or enumerates particular things, they must be interpreted to mean that all other things were intended to be excluded." (OB, p.34 (citing, *e.g.*, *Ramsey v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 392 P.3d 614, 619 (Nev. 2017).) This argument is inapplicable in an NPRA case, which instead requires an express and unequivocal expression of an intent to make a record confidential. Moreover, the provision is not a complete enumeration of whom a coroner may (or must) provide copies of reports to. For example, it does not mention CDRs or law enforcement. NRS 259.045(2) instead simply states:

The coroner may notify the parents, guardians, adult children or custodians of a decedent of the fact of the decedent's death and provide a copy of the report of the coroner to the parents, guardians, adult children or custodians regardless of whether they are the next of kin authorized to order the burial or cremation of the human remains of the decedent pursuant to NRS 451.024.

Thus, the mention of providing a copy of the report is incidental to, and tied to, the expanded statutory authority to notify additional next-of-kin. NRS 259.045 is not an

¹⁷ The Coroner recognizes this binding precedent in its statement regarding the NPRA but doesn't apply it.

exhaustive list of whom the Coroner may provide reports to, let alone a clear expression of intent to make autopsy reports confidential.

b) AB57's Irrelevant Legislative History Does Not Support the Coroner's Position.

Where a statute is clear, its legislative history is not even relevant to interpreting that statute—let alone other statutes. *J.E. Dunn Nw., Inc. v. Corus Constr. Venture, LLC*, 127 Nev. 72, 79, 249 P.3d 501, 505 (2011).

The legislative testimony surrounding the eventual passage of AB57 does not evidence any intent to restrict public access to autopsy reports. It demonstrates that the intent motivating AB57 was to "require[] . . . coroners to make reasonable efforts to notify the next of kin of the decedent's death and [expand] who is authorized to order the burial or cremation of the decedent" and "authorize[] a coroner to notify a decedent's loved ones of the death of the decedent and provide a copy of the coroner's report to those individuals." (JA 259.) The statements in support of AB57 largely focused on next-of-kin notifications in "situations in which the death [of a person] is the result of family violence." (2 JA259-260; *see also generally* 2 JA293-309).

The Legislature never considered whether autopsy reports should be public records. Just because AB57 allows for the Coroner to notify certain next-of-kin of the fact of a death—and provide a copy of the autopsy report at the same time—that

has no bearing on whether autopsy reports are subject to the NPRA.¹⁸ Thus, not only is the legislative history of AB57 not properly before this Court, the Coroner's efforts to read any intent to restrict access to records reflects a reliance on a conjecture about legislative intent, which can never be used to support a finding that a public record is a secret.

The Declaration undercuts one of the Coroner's key legal contentions in this appeal—that the amendments to NRS 259.045 made by AB57 were intended to "limit the class of individuals to whom the Coroner can release an autopsy report (OB, p. 32):

I am very familiar with AB57 ... AB57 made changes to NRS Chapter 259 that require a coroner to notify the next of kin with the right to the body of the decedent under NRS 451.024 in that it *provided that a coroner may also notify certain other next of kin* consisting of parents, guardians, adult children or custodians as defined in NRS 432B.060. Additionally, that bill provided that *a copy of the coroner's report may be released to certain individuals* (parents, adult children, guardian or custodian as defined in NRS 43213.060) *regardless of whether they have the right to the body under NRS 451.024*.

(1JA230-31 (emphasis added).) As this reflects and as further discussed below, AB57 was intended to *expand* a coroner's ability to disseminate notice and

¹⁸ In its contortions, the Coroner even suggests the lack of testimony from the Nevada Press Association and the LVRJ supports its position. (OB, p. 33.) Similarly, without any evidentiary support, the Coroner contends that the intent was to make the "policy" of the coroner law, and that this somehow supports is position with regard to public records (OB p. 34; *see also* p. 45 (suggesting, without any support that the intent of AB 57 was to protect privacy interests).

information about a person's death, not to make any records confidential.

c) Language from Other States Cannot be Grafted Into AB57.

The Coroner improperly attempts to buttress its statutory arguments regarding AB57 with other states' statutes. In fact, that other states' statutes explicitly provide for confidentiality undermines the Coroner's argument that AB57, devoid of such language, should be read as also doing so.

The other statutes the Coroner relies on (OB p. 36) expressly render autopsy reports "confidential" or "not public records." Iowa Code Ann. § 22.7(41.5) (expressly define "autopsy reports" as confidential) (West 2018) (cited in OB, p. 36).Mass. Gen. Laws Ann. ch. 38, § 2 (West 2018) ("...autopsy reports,... shall not be deemed to be public records..."); N.H. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 611-B:21 (West 2018) ("...autopsy reports, investigative reports, and supporting documentation are confidential and, as such, are exempt from the provisions of [New Hampshire's public records / "right to know" law."); N.D. Cent. Code Ann. § 23-01-05.5 (2) (West 2018) ("[an autopsy report" is "confidential .." [and listing exceptions]); Or. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 192.345(36) (West 2018) (defining "autopsy report " as exempt from disclosure."); Utah Code Ann. § 26-4-17(7) (West 2018) ("the medical examiner may not disclose any part of a medical examiner record"); Wash. Rev.

Code Ann. § 68.50.105(1) (West 2018) ("Reports and records of autopsies or postmortems shall be confidential..."). 19

The Nevada Legislature could have expressly stated that autopsy reports are confidential and exempt. It did not do so, and thus the Coroner has not established that the records are confidential by law. Moreover, that some states' legislatures have made a decision to make autopsies secret (for unknown reasons), does not make that the policy of Nevada. It is noteworthy that, just as some states have decided to explicitly exempt public records from disclosure, others have taken the opposite approach. *See*, *e.g.*, Ala. Code § 36-18-2; La. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 44:19(A)(3); N.C. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 132-1.8; Ohio Rev. Code § 313.10; Tenn. Code. Ann. § 38-7-110; Tex. Code Crim. Pro. Ann. § 49.25(11)(a).

d) Other States' Case Law Does Not Support the Coroner's Interpretation.

The Coroner's reliance on case law from states with different public records laws to make its case is misguided. *Reid v. Pierce County*, 136 Wash. 2d 195 (Wash. 1998) did not address release of autopsy reports but "whether Plaintiffs may maintain a cause of action . . . for appropriating and displaying to others photographs

35

¹⁹ While the Coroner cited Okla. Stat. Ann. tit. 63, § 949 to support its interpretation of AB 57, Oklahoma's statute does not in fact render autopsy reports confidential, although a recent change in the law does *delay* public access. *See* https://newsok.com/article/5578392/public-autopsy-records-delayed-under-new-oklahoma-law (last accessed 8/13/18).

of corpses." *Id.* at 198. *Galvin v. Freedom of Info. Com'n*, 201 Conn. 448, 460 (Conn. 1986), relied on an express statute limiting disclosure of autopsy reports. ²⁰ *Larry S. Baker, P.C. v. City of Westland*, 627 N.W.2d 27, 29 (Mich. 2001), applied an explicit privacy exemption. The Michigan Court also predicated its decision on the fact that, in that specific case, what it deemed to be a small privacy interest outweighed a "nonexistent public interest in disclosure in this case." *Id.* at 33. Thus, the case is distinguishable for two reasons—the general presumption in favor of access in Nevada and the specific reasons why disclosure is in the public interest here.

e) AB57 Should Not Be Applied Retroactively.

Although it failed to raise this argument below, the Coroner asserts that AB57 "should apply retroactively" to this case. (OB, p.32-31.) This Court should decline to consider this argument. See, e.g., Dermody v. City of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997) (citation omitted); see also Motor Vehicle Mfrs. Ass'n of U.S., Inc. v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 463 U.S. 29, 50, (1983) (holding that "courts may not accept appellate counsel's post hoc rationalizations for agency action") (citation omitted). At the time the Coroner cited AB57, it was pending legislation—not law. (See 1JA034.) Allowing pending legislation to justify

²⁰ Conn. Gen. Stat. Ann. § 1-200 (West 2018), is devoid of the legislative mandates contained in the NPRA.

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